NO. 17-0558 


IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


CHARLESTON 


CHARLES PATRICK HEASTER, individually 
and as the representative of the 100 
qualified petitioners, 

Petitioners, 

v. 	 Civil Action No. 16-C-57 

GREGORY 	 L. ROBINSON, 

Respondent. 

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DODDRIDGE COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA 

HONORABLE JACK ALSOP~ JUDGE 


HONORABLE JACOB E. REGER, JUDGE 

HONORABLE PATRICK N. WILSON, JUDGE 


BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT, CHARLES PATRICK HEASTER 

TO: 	 THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST 
VIRGINIA

I. Statement of the Kind of Proceeding 
and Nature of the Ruling Below 

On November 3, 2016, the appellant, Charles Patrick Heaster, 

as the representative of 100 qualified petitioners, filed a 

petition in the Circuit Court of Doddridge County, West Virginia, 

to remove the appellee from elected office as a County Commissioner 

of Doddridge County, West Virginia, pursuant to West Virginia Code 
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§6-6-7. Appendix at page 00001. In accordance with West Virginia 

Code 	§6-6-7 (b) (1) (C) (iii) the petition was filed by the appellant, 

Charles Patrick Heaster, on behalf of 100 qualified petitioners who 

signed a petition seeking the removal of the appellee, Gregory L. 

Robinson, from his elected office. 

The 	 petition for removal was based upon various grounds 

including the following: 

(a) 	 After April 19, 2016, the appellee 
unilaterally stopped payment on a 
$50,000.00 donation check approved by the 
Doddridge County Commission at a duly 
constituted and conducted meeting; 

(b) 	 The appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, has 
permi tted, encouraged and directed the 
wrongful and wasteful expenditure of 
monies belonging to the citizens of 
Doddridge County by continuing to support 
and encourage the deficit spending and 
operation of the Doddridge County 
Arr~ulance Authority; 

(c) 	 The appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, as the 
member of the Doddridge County Commission 
appointed to the Board of Directors of 
the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority 
the appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, has 
encouraged, directed and participated in 
the purchase, with funds belonging to the 
Doddridge County Commission, of equipment 
without competitive bid in violation of 
West Virginia Code §7-15-16; 

(d) 	 The appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, has 
and continues to interj ect himself and 
control meetings of the Doddridge County 
Ambulance Authority, including, but not 
limited to, wrongfully removing duly 
appointed board members. Helmick v. 
Tucker County Court, 65 W.Va. 231, 64 
S.E. 17 (1919). 
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On November 28, 2016, the Circuit Court of Doddridge County, 

pursuant to West Virginia Code §6-6-7(g), entered an order finding 

that the petition was sufficient under the standards set forth in 

West Virginia Code §6-6-7 (2016) to proceed to a hearing before a 

three-j udge court. Appendix Vol. 1 at page 00028. Upon such 

finding, the Circuit Court submitted the petition to this Court for 

the appointment of a three-judge court. 

On November 29, 2016, this Court appointed three circuit 

judges, none of whom were from the circuit where the petition was 

filed, to hear the charges of the petition. The circuit judges 

appointed to the three-judge court were Judge Jack Alsop; Judge 

Jacob E. Reger; and, Judge Patrick N. Wilson. Appendix Vol. 1 at 

Page 00029. 

On December 5, 2016, the appellee filed an answer to the 

petition in which the appellee admitted that he unilaterally 

stopped payment on the check authorized to be signed by the 

Doddridge County Commission at a duly noticed and constituted 

meeting. Appendix Vol. 1 at page 00036. The removal of the 

appellee was warranted based solely on the admission of appellee in 

his answer as his conduct was willful unlawful behavior. W.Va. 

Code §6-6-1 (2016); W.Va. Code §6-6-7 (2016). 

On December 22, 2016, the appellee filed a motion to dismiss. 

Appendix Vol. 1 at page 00044. The appellant responded to the 

motion to dismiss on January 6, 2017. Appendix Vol. 1 at page 

00130. 
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The three-judge court denied the motion to dismiss by order 

entered on February 28, 2017. Appendix Vol. 1 at page 00153. 

Following discovery, the appellee filed a motion for summary 

judgment on March 24, 2017. Appendix Vol. 1 at page 00185. The 

appellant filed a response to the motion for summary judgment on 

March 31, 2017. Appendix Vol. 2 at page 00448. 

The three-judge court heard argument and took the motion under 

advisement on March 31, 2017. Appendix Vol. 2 at page 0549. This 

action proceeded to evidentiary hearing on April 18, 2017. 

Appendix Vol. 3 at page 875. 

Following the presentation of evidence by the appellant, the 

three-judge court considered a motion for judgment as a matter of 

law by the appellee. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 875. (Transcript at 

58). After minimal consideration the three-judge court announced 

its decision that the appellant failed to meet the burden of proof 

and dismissed the petition. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 875. 

(Transcript at 58). 

On May 23, 2017 the three-judge court entered the Final 

Opinion and Order Following Evidentiary Hearing. Appendix Vol. 3 

at page 00860. The appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on June 

22,2017. 

The Final Opinion and Order Following Evidentiary Hearing 

should be reversed as the three-judge court failed to take 
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sufficient time to consider the evidence;l failed to consider the 

evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant; disregarded 

admitted exhibits which established as a matter of law clear and 

convincing evidence sufficient for the removal of the appellee; 

and, considered as a defense that the appellee was not the only 

member of the County Commission to take prohibited action or fail 

to take lawful action against who a petition for removal was filed. 

Any of these reasons, standing alone, is sufficient to reverse the 

final order and remove the appellee from office. 

II. Assignments of Error 

The three-judge court impermissibly construed the evidence in 

a light most favorable to the appellee and erred in granting a 

judgment as a matter of law following the appellant resting its 

case. 

III. Statement of Facts 

1. The appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, was elected to serve 

as a commissioner of the County Commission of Doddridge County, 

West Virginia, at the general election of 2012. Appendix Vol. 3 at 

page 00736. 

2. The Doddridge County Emergency Squad, Inc., is a West 

Virginia nonprofit corporation. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 738. 

1 The uncontradicted agendas and meeting minutes entered into 
evidence establish the willful and unlawful conduct of the 
appellee. 
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3. Between June 2S, 2009 and July 7, 2009 the Doddridge 

County Commission created the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority 

pursuant to the provisions of West Virginia Code §7-1S-4. Appendix 

Vol. 3 at page 00740 and page 00743. 

4. During its meeting of July 7, 2009 the Doddridge County 

Commission appointed seven (7) individuals to serve as the Board of 

Directors of the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority. Appendix 

Vol. 3 at page 743. 

S. The Doddridge County Emergency Squad, Inc. and the 

Doddridge County Ambulance Authority are not related in any way. 

6. Although the Minutes of the Doddridge County Commission 

are unclear, the original number of Directors of the Board of the 

Doddridge County Ambulance Authority was equal to seven (7). 

Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00743. 

7. Pursuant to West Virginia Code §7-1S-S members of the 

board of directors of an ambulance authority are appointed for 

three (3) years terms. The board of directors can have no less 

than five(S) nor more than IS members. W.Va. Code §7-1S-S. 

8. The West Virginia Emergency Ambulance Act of 1975 

provides that the management and control of any authority, its 

operations, business and affairs, shall be lodged in the board of 

directors. W.Va. Code §7-1S-S. 

9. The Board of Directors of the Ambulance Authority have 

various powers and duties as described by West Virginia Code §7-1S

10 which include the following: 
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(1) 	 To provide emergency ambulance service, 
maintain and operate such service, and 
employ, in its discretion, planning 
consultants, attorneys, accountants, 
superintendents, managers and such other 
employees and agents as may be necessary 
in its judgment and fix their 
compensation; 

(2) 	 To enter into contracts and agreements 
which are necessary, convenient, or 
useful to carry out the purposes of this 
article with any person, public 
corporation, State or any agency or 
political subdivision ... ; 

(3) 	 To enter into contracts and agreements 
for superintendents and management 
services with any person, who has 
executive personnel with experience and 
skill applicable to the superintendents 
and management of any system... ; 

(4) 	 To execute security agreements, 
contracts, leases, equipment trust 
certificates and any other forms of 
contract or agreement ... ; 

(5) 	 To do any and all things necessary or 
convenient to carry out the powers given 
in this article unless otherwise 
forbidden by law. 

W.Va. Code §7-15-10. 

10. 	 An Ambulance Authority created pursuant to the West 

Virginia Emergency Ambulance Service Act is not subservient to a 

County Commission or any individual County Commission member such 

as the respondent. W.Va. Code §7-15-1 et ~. 

11. 	 On or about September 24, 2009 the Board of Directors of 

the 	 Doddridge County Ambulance Authority adopted by-laws in 

accordance with West Virginia Code §7-15-10(c). Appendix Vol. 3 at 

page 	00745. 
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12. The Minutes of the Doddridge County Commission do not 

reflect that the number of directors was increased or decreased in 

accordance with West Virginia Code §7-15-5 at any time. 

13. The appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, was appointed to the 

Doddridge County Ambulance Authority on January 2, 2013, by the 

Doddridge County Commission at his first meeting following his 2012 

election. Mr. Robinson made the motion that he be appointed and he 

voted in favor of his appointment. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00753

00754. 

14. The Minutes of the January 2, 2013 meeting do not 

indicate that there was any vacancy on the Board of Directors of 

the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority at the time that the 

appellee made the motion and voted to place himself on the 

Ambulance Authority Board of Directors. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 

00753. 

15. The actions of the appellee were in direct violation of 

West Virginia Code §7-15-5. 

16. On April 2, 2013, the appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, as 

a member of the Doddridge County Commission made a motion and voted 

to remove all members of the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority 

Board of Directors. The motion passed and the entire Board of 

Directors was removed. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00756. 

17. As the members of the Board of Directors of the Doddridge 

County Ambulance Authority are appointed to fixed terms pursuant to 

West Virginia Code §7-15-5. 
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18. There is no provision of the Emergency Ambulance Service 

Act, W.Va. Code §7-15-1 et ~., granting authority of a County 

Commission to remove from office any member of an Ambulance 

Authority Board of Directors, therefore, the respondent engaged in 

official misconduct by the willful, unlawful motion to remove the 

entire Board of Directors of the Ambulance Authority and appellee's 

subsequent vote to remove the entire board of directors. Appendix 

Vol. 3 at page 0763. 

19. The only mechanism for the removal of members of the 

Board of Directors of an Ambulance Authority is a petition pursuant 

to West Virginia Code §6-6-7 as such individuals hold an appointed 

county office with a term fixed by law. W.Va. Code §6-6-7(a). 

20. Where a county official is appointed for a fixed term of 

office such as that provided for members of the Ambulance Authority 

Board of Directors a County Commission has no power to remove such 

individual. Helmick v. Tucker County Court, 65 W.Va. 231, 64 

S.E.2d 17 (1909); Barbor v. County Court of Mercer County, 85 W.Va. 

359, 101 S.E. 721 (1920); Willhem v. West Virginia Lottery, 198 

W.Va. 92, 479 S.E.2d 602 (1996); Schwartz v. County Court of 

Hancock County, 136 W.Va. 626, 63 S.E.2d 64 (1951); Attorney 

General Opinion, 2 0 15 WL 7 4 314 0 0 (W.Va. Atty. Gen. November 12, 

2015) . 

21. The actions of the appellee are in complete disregard for 

clear West Virginia Statutes and decisions of this Court. 
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22. Following the removal of the entire Board of Directors, 

the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority continued to operate with 

no Board of Directors in violation of West Virginia Code §7-15-5 

for a period of approximately thirty (30) days. Appendix Vol. 3 at 

page 00766 and 00767. 

23. Based upon a vacancy on the Ambulance Authority Board of 

Directors, on December 4, 2013, the appellee voted in favor of the 

appointment of Robert Beamer to be a member of the Board of 

Directors of the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority. Appendix 

Vol. 3 at page 00770 and page 00771. 

24. During the May 20, 2014 meeting of the Doddridge County 

Commission, the appellee, despite the absence of any item on the 

agenda with respect to Mr. Beamer's removal, made a motion to 

remove Robert Beamer from the Board of Directors of the Doddridge 

County Ambulance Authority. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00779 and page 

00787. 

25. At the same meeting the respondent made the motion and 

voted to remove the Executive Director of the Doddridge County 

Ambulance Authority. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00787. 

26. The appellee was advised that as Mr. Beamer's removal was 

not on the meeting agenda the motion could not be considered. The 

respondent had the removal of Mr. Beamer placed on the agenda for 

the next commission meeting. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00787. 
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Commission which occurred on June 3, 2014, the Agenda contained 

under New Business the following: 

Removal of member from DCAA Board of Directors. 

Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00790. 

28. During the June 3, 2014 meeting the appellee made the 

motion to remove Mr. Beamer from the Board of Directors; the 

respondent voted in favor of his motion; and, the motion passed. 

Appendix Vol. 3 at page 794. 

29. As stated above a county commission has no authority to 

remove any member of an Ambulance Authority Board of Directors once 

appointed, therefore, the conduct of the appellee as a member of 

the county commission as well as, the member making the motion, is 

the willful unlawful behavior of the appellee in the course of his 

.performance 	of the duties of public office. W.Va. Code §6-6-1(a) 

(2016) . 

30. At the meeting of the Doddridge County Commission held on 

June 17, 2014, Robert Beamer submitted a letter regarding his 

concerns about the Doddridge County Ambulance Authority. One of 

the concerns expressed by Mr. Beamer was that the appellee 

interfered with the operation of the Ambulance Authority. Appendix 

Vol. 3 at page 00875. (Transcript at 34). 

31. For the year ending June 30, 2014, the appellee, approved 

the expenditure $38,878.00 to purchase new equipment for the 

Ambulance Authority. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00875. (Transcript at 

35) . 
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32. With respect to ambulance authorities, West Virginia Code 

§7-15-16, any purchase in excess of $10,000.00 shall be based upon 

competitive sealed bids. 

33. With respect to county commissions, West Virginia Code 

§7-1-11, any purchase in excess of $15,000.000 shall be based on 

competitive bids. 

34. The records of the Clerk of the County Commission of 

Doddridge County do not indicate any competitive bidding for any 

purchase of vehicles or equipment for the ambulance authority from 

January 1, 2013 to January 1, 2017. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00875. 

(Transcript at 9). 

35. The Agenda for the April 19, 2016 meeting of the 

Doddridge County Commission contained the following items under New 

Business: 

K. DCEMS-Discussion of finances. 

Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00799. 

36. During the April 19, 2016 commission meeting a quorum of 

the Doddridge County Commission was present. Appendix Vol. 3 at 

page 00801. 

37. At the April 19, 2016 meeting of the county commission, 

a majority of the members voted in favor of a $50,000.00 donation 

to the Doddridge County Emergency Squad, Inc. Appendix Vol. 3 at 

page 00804. 
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38. Pursuant to the motion, which passed by majority vote, 

the County Clerk sent check number 17777 on the account of the 

Sheriff of Doddridge County and signed by the Sheriff, the Clerk 

and the respondent to the president of the Doddridge County 

Emergency Squad, Inc. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00806. 

39. On April 21, 2016, the appellee, Gregory L. Robinson, 

without advising any other member of the Doddridge County 

Commission, took unilateral action to stop the payment at the bank 

of the $50,000.00 check made payable to the Doddridge County 

Emergency Squad and written on the account of the Doddridge County 

Sheriff. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00874. (Transcript at 101). 

40. From April 21, 2016 to the present, the Doddridge County 

Commission has taken no action to reverse the April 19, 2016 vote 

to donate $50,000.00 to the Doddridge County Emergency Squad, Inc. 

41. On February 7, 2017 the Doddridge County Commission, with 

the respondent voting in favor, again with no statutory authority, 

removed the entire Board of Directors of the Doddridge County 

Ambulance Authority. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00808. 

42. At the time of the evidentiary hearing in this action the 

Doddridge County Ambulance Authority was operating under the total 

control of the Doddridge County Commission with no Board of 

Directors in violation of West Virginia Code §7-15-5. 
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IV. Summary of Argument 

The appellee engaged in willful unlawful behavior in the 

course of his performance of the duties of his elected office. 

Based upon this behavior and the admission of the appellee that he 

would do exactly the same in the future the appellee must be 

removed from office. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 00810'. 

The three-judge court articulate as a basis for the denial of 

the petition that the appellee was a member of the county 

commission and at least one other commission member joined with the 

appellee in some of the unlawful conduct. Appendix Vol. 3 at page 

00872. West Virginia Code §6-6-7 (2016) contains no such defense, 

each individual covered under West Virginia Code §6-6-7 (2016) is 

responsible for their own actions and behavior. 

The three-judge court did not take the time to consider the 

admitted uncontested exhibits which establish willful unlawful 

behavior by the appellee. The three-j udge court ignored the 

admission by the appellee that he ordered the check authorized by 

the county commission to be stop paid. 

The evidence which must be considered in a light most 

favorable to the appellant clearly established that the appellee 

had no respect for West Virginia law or the requirements and 

limitations of his office. As such the appellee should be removed 

from office. 
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v. Statement Regarding Oral Argument 

Pursuant to Rule 20(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate 

Procedure, the appellant, Charles Patrick Heaster, believes that 

oral argument should be held in this case as it involves issues of 

fundamental public importance. As the three-judge court ruled as 

a matter of law the review by this court is de novo. 

The removal of an elected official is a drastic remedy, 

however, 100 citizens of Doddridge County invoked the provisions of 

West Virginia Code §6-6-7 (2016) regarding the appellee and the 

uncontroverted evidence presented showed clearly and convincingly 

the willful unlawful conduct of the appellee. Kemp v. Boyd, 166 

W.Va. 471, 275 S.E.2d 297 (1981). At issue in this action is the 

expenditure of public funds as well as the power of government and 

the limits of individual elected officials. 

For these reasons, oral argument pursuant to Rule 20(a) (2) of 

the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure should be held in 

this case. 

VI. Points and Authorities 


Constitution of West Virginia 


Constitution of West Virginia Article 9 §9 

state Cases 

Barbor v. County Court of Mercer County, 85 W.Va. 359, 101 S.E. 721 
(1920) ; 

Brannon v. Riffle, 197 W.Va. 97, 475 S.E.2d 97 (1996); 

Daugherty v. Ellis, 142 W.Va.340, 97 S.E.2d 33 (1956); 

15 



Estep v. Mike Ferrell Ford Lincoln-Mercury, 223 W.Va. 209, 672 

S.E.2d 345 (2008); 


Goshorn's Executors v. County Court of Kanawha County, 42 W.Va. 

735, 26 S.E. 452 (1896); 


Helmick v. Tucker County Court, 65 W.Va. 231, 64 S.E.2d 17 (1909); 


Johnson v. Hills Department Stores, Inc., 200 W.Va. 196; 480 S.E.2d 

471 (1997); 


Kemp v. Boyd, 166 W.Va. 471, 275 S.E.2d 297 (1981); 


Padandreas v. Kawecki, 2017 WL 383782 (W.Va. Sup.Ct. January 27, 

2017) ; 


Schwartz v. County Court of Hancock County, 136 W. Va. 626, 63 

S.E.2d 64 (1951); 


State ex rel. County Court of Tyler County v. Morris, 91 W.Va. 269, 

112 S.E. 519 (1922); 


State ex rel. West Virginia Parkways Authority v. Barr, 288 W.Va. 

27, 716 S.E.2d 689 (2011); 


Wil1hem v. West Virginia Lottery, 198 W.Va. 92, 479 S.E.2d 602 

(1996) ; 


Statutes and Regulations 

West Virginia Code §6-6-1 


West Virginia Code §6-6-1(a) 


West Virginia Code §6-6-1(b) 


West Virginia Code §6-6-1(c) 


West Virginia Code §6-6-7 


West Virginia Code §6-6-7(a) 


West Virginia Code §6-6-7 (b) (1) (C) (iii) 


West Virginia Code §6-6-7(g)

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