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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The Panel correctly determined that Petitioners failed to prove their allegations of 

official misconduct by clear and convincing evidence. At the close of Petitioners' case-in-chief, 

the Respondent made an oral motion for a directed verdict. After retiring to deliberate, the Panel 

correctly found that the Petitioner's failed to present a prima facie case of official misconduct 

and correctly dismissed the removal petition. The Panel determined that the scant evidence, 

which consisted of a handful of documents and the testimony of only two (2) witnesses, was not 

sufficient to warrant further consideration ofthe allegations. 

The Panel considered the evidence in the light most favorable to the Petitioners and 

correctly determined that the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing did not establish 
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sufficient evidence to warrant removing the Respondent from office. The Panel emphasized in 

its Final Opinion and Order Following Evidentiary Hearing that it was construing the evidence in 

the light most-favorable to the Petitioners. Despite affording the Petitioners all deference in the 

presentation of their evidence, the Panel correctly detennined that the evidence was insufficient 

as a matter of law. 

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court made after a 

bench trial, a two-pronged deferential standard of review is applied. The final order and the 

ultimate disposition are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, and the circuit court's 

underlying factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions oflaw are 

subject to a de novo review." Syl. pt. 1, Beverly v. Thompson, 229 W.Va. 684, 735 S.E.22d 559 

(2012); Syl. pt. 1, Public Citizen, Inc. v. First National Bank in Fairmont, 198 W.Va. 329,480 

S.E.2d 538 (1996); see also, Syl. Pt. 6, Daugherty v. Ellis, 142 W.Va. 340, 97 S.E.2d 33 (1956) 

(holding that "[t]he finding of a trial court upon facts submitted to it in lieu of a jury will be 

given the same weight as the verdict of a jury and will not be disturbed by an appellate court 

unless the evidence plainly and decidedly preponderates against such finding."). 

As noted by this Court, the public, as a whole, has an interest in seeing duly-elected 

officials continue in office. See, Syl. Pt. 5, in part, Powers v. Goodwin, 170 W.Va. 151,291 

S.E.2d 466 (1982) (Powers I). 

The Powers 1 Court further noted that: 

voters have a legitimate interest in protecting their duly elected officials 
from being hectored out of office . . . One of the obligations of a duly 
elected public official is to continue to discharge the office to which he 
was elected since it can reasonably be assumed that he was elected 
because of his public stand on issues of concern to the voters. 
Consequently, continued service in an elected position is not a question in 
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which only the officeholder has a personal concern; in a democratic 
government predicated upon the competition of policies and ideas through 
different candidates for elected office, the public itself has an interest in 
seeing persons elected by a majority continue in office. 

Id. at 160, 292 S.E.2d 466. As such, the removal from office of a public officer is a drastic 

remedy and the statutory provisions proscribing the grounds for removal are to be strictly 

construed. Smith v. Godby, 154 W.Va. 190, 174 S.E.2d 165 (1970); Matter ofBoso, 160 W.Va. 

38,231 S.E.2d 715 (1977); Kemp v. Boyd, 166 W.Va. 471, 275 S.E.2d 297 (1981). 

To warrant removal of a public official, clear and convincing evidence must be adduced 

to meet the statutory requirement of satisfactory proof. West Virginia Code § 6-6-7(h); In Re 

Sims, 206 W.Va. 213, 523 S.E.2d 273 (1999); George v. Godby, 174 W.Va. 313,325 S.E.2d 102 

(1984); Kemp v. Boyd, 166 W.Va. 471, 275 S.E.2d 297; Evan v. Hutchinson, 158 W.Va. 359, 

214 S.E.2d 453 (1975). 

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The Respondent respectfully requests that oral arguments be heard pursuant to Rule 19 of 

the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure as the Petitioners' arguments are premised on 

their claims that the Panel incorrectly considered the evidence. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

The failures in this case are not those of the Panel; rather, it was the Petitioners who 

failed to elicit evidence supporting their allegations against the Respondent during the 

evidentiary hearing. Despite their failure to meet the heightened proof required to invoke the 

drastic remedy of removing a public official from office, Petitioners claim that the scant 

evidence they did submit was sufficient to warrant such a drastic remedy. Petitioners' claims 

could not be any further off-base. 
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During the evidentiary hearing, the Petitioners utterly failed to establish any of their 

allegations by clear and convincing evidence. The Petitioners called only two (2) witnesses in 

support of their allegations, neither of whom provided any substantive evidence against the 

Respondent. Moreover, the documentary evidence did not establish that the Respondent engaged 

in "official misconduct" warranting the drastic remedy ofhis removal from office. 

On appeal, the Petitioners' claims boil down to one fundamental premise: that the Panel 

incorrectly analyzed the evidence from the evidentiary hearing in determining that the 

Petitioners' failed to present sufficient evidence warranting the Respondent's removal from 

office. However, the Panel correctly analyzed the evidence presented by the Petitioners and 

correctly afforded such evidence all weight required under the law, yet still found that 

Petitioners' evidence was insufficient to justify the drastic remedy of removing the Respondent 

from his elected office. 

A. 	 SEVERAL OF PETITIONERS' ARGUMENTS ARE NOT IN COMPLIANCE WIm THIS 
COURT'S RULES OF ApPELLATE PROCEDURE, AND, THEREFORE, SHOULD NOT BE 
CONSIDERED ON APPEAL. 

As is par for the course in this case, the Petitioners fail to provide support for their 

claims. The Panel found that the Petitioners did not present prima facie evidence that the 

Respondent committed acts that warranted his removal from office, and, on appeal, the 

Petitioners fail to support several of their arguments before this Court. 

This Court has repeatedly emphasized that "[i]n the absence of supporting authority, we 

decline further to review [these] alleged error[s] because [they] have not been adequately 

briefed." State v. Allen, 208 W.Va. 144, 162,539 S.E.2d 87 (1999). Although the Court liberally 

construes briefs in determining the issues presented for review, "issues ... mentioned only in 

passing but ... not supported with pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal." State v. 
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Kaufman, 227 W.Va. 537, 555, 711 S.E.2d 607 (2011) (quoting State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 

302,470 S.E.2d 613 (1996»; Accord State v. Adkins, 209 W.Va. 212,216 n. 5,544 S.E.2d 914 

(2001); State v. Easton, 203 W.Va. 631, 642 n. 19, 510 S.E.2d 465 (1998); State v. Lilly, 194 

W.Va. 595, 605 n. 16,461 S.E.2d 101 (1995) (noting that "appellate courts frequently refuse to 

address issues that appellants ... fail to develop in their brief. "). See also, Ohio Cellular RSA Ltd. 

Partnership v. Board a/Pub. Works of West Virginia, 198 W.Va. 416, 424 n. 11,481 S.E.2d 722 

(1996) (refusing to address issue on appeal that had not been adequately briefed). In other 

words, '[a] skeletal "argument," really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a 

claim .... Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs.' " State Dept. ofHealth v. 

Robert Morris N., 195 W.Va. 759, 765,466 S.E.2d 827 (1995) (quoting United States v. Dunkel, 

927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir.1991». 

Moreover, Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that 

[t]the brief must contain an argument exhibiting clearly the points of fact 
and law presented, ... and citing the authorities relied on ... [and] must 
contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal[.] The 
Court may disregard errors that are not adequately supported by specific 
references to the record on appeal. 

Rule 1O(j) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure further provides that "[t]he 

failure to file a brief in accordance with this rule may result in the Supreme Court refusing to 

consider the case[.]" Additionally, in an Administrative Order entered December 10, 2012, Re: 

Filings That Do Not Comply With the Rules ofAppellate Procedure, then-Chief Justice Ketchum 

specifically noted that "[b]riefs that lack citation of authority, fail to structure an argument 

applying applicable law, ... or present only a skeletal argument" are not in compliance with this 

Court's rules. Id. Further, "[b]riefs that set forth rambling assignments of error that are 

essentially statements of facts with a conclusion that the lower tribunal was 'clearly wrong' " are 
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not in compliance with this Court's rules. Id. at pp. 2. Moreover, "[b]riefs with arguments that 

do not contain a citation to legal authority to support the argument presented and do not 'contain 

appropriate and specific citations to the records on appeal .... " !d. at pp. 2. 

In their brief, the Petitioners claim that a lease agreement entered into by County 

Commission for the purchase and building of a new public library is willful and unlawful 

misconduct. Petitioners' Brief at pp. 24. However, Petitioners completely fail to support this 

claim on appeal and completely failed to establish how entering into the lease is official 

misconduct on the part of the Respondent at the evidentiary hearing. 

Similarly, Petitioners' brief alleges that the Panel dismissed the case because the petition 

itself failed to state a prima facie case. Id. at pp. 25. Petitioners offer no support for this 

argument aside from their own conjecture and speculation. Moreover, such an argument is 

wholly unsupported by the record and the history of this case. 

Finally, Petitioners brief fails to provide any support for their assertions that Respondent 

was unable to be appointed to the DCAA Board of Directors; that the DCAA must have a board 

of Directors to operate; or that a County Commission is powerless to remove directors of an 

ambulance authority. Id. at pp. 22. 

As such, the Court should refuse to consider these claims on appeal as being 

noncompliant with the applicable rules of Appellate Procedure. Nevertheless, the Respondent 

will provide a response to such arguments. 

B. 	 THE PANEL DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT PETITIONER HAD FAILED TO PRESENT 
SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO REMOVE THE RESPONDENT FROM OFFICE. 

The Petitioners failed to introduce any evidence that established, by any standard, much 

less by clear and convincing evidence, that the Respondent committed acts of "official 

misconduct" which would warrant imposition of the drastic remedy of his removal from office. 
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Thus, the decision of the Panel should be affinned because the Petitioners completely failed to 

present clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent engaged in acts of official 

misconduct. 

West Virginia Code § 6-6-1 (a) defines the tenn official misconduct to being a "conviction 

of a felony during the officer's present term of office or any willful unlawful behavior by a 

public officer in the course of his or her perfonnance of the duties of the public office." In 

essence, official misconduct has two (2) definitions: (1) conviction of a felony while in office; or 

(2) willful unlawful behavior. 

As the Respondent was not, and has never been, convicted of a felony, the Petitioners 

could only claim that he committed willful unlawful behavior. Essentially, the second definition 

of official misconduct was fonnulated from the Supreme Court's definition of "misconduct in 

office" in Kesling v. Moore and Cain, 102 W.Va. 251, 135 S.E. 246 (1926) and Daugherty v. 

Day, 145 W.Va. 592, 116 S.E.2d 131 (1960). The Kesling and Daughtery courts defined 

misconduct in office as "any unlawful behavior by a public officer in relation to the duties of his 

office, willful in character." Kesling, at Syl. Pt. 2; Daugherty at Syl. Pt. 3. 

In this matter, the Petitioners only produced minimal evidence in support of their 

allegations that the Respondent engaged in official misconduct. They called only two (2) 

witnesses: Clerk Rogers and fonner nCAA Board Member, Robert Beamer. A.R. Vol. III, at pp. 

860-873, 875 (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript). The Petitioners also introduced several 

documents into the record. Id. However, neither the evidence nor the testimony established 

clear and convincing evidence that Respondent engaged in official misconduct and was 

insufficient to impose the drastic remedy of his removal from office. In fact, the evidence 
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presented to the Panel was insufficient to even warrant requiring the Respondent to begin his 

case-in-chief, which was why the Panel dismissed the proceedings below. 

As noted by the Panel, Clerk Rogers' testimony was "factually sparse in nature" and the 

majority of her testimony centered on the constitutional duties ofher office. A.R. Vol. 111, at pp. 

867. Thus, the Panel found that Clerk Rogers did not provide any relevant testimony regarding 

the allegations contained in the Removal Petition. ld. Similarly, the Panel found that Mr. 

Beamer's testimony did not provide any factual support for the Petitioners' allegation because of 

Mr. Beamer's admitted animosity toward the Respondent and the utter lack of supporting 

evidence. Id. at pp. 868-872. 

Moreover, the Panel detennined that the documentary evidence "fail[ed] to establish 

satisfactory proof of a cognizable ground for relief of removal by clear and convincing 

evidence." ld. at pp. 867. The Panel further noted that the admitted exhibits were 

at best a muddled assortment of meeting agendas and minutes that while 
they represent actions taken by the [County] Commission as a whole, 
fail [ ed] in all respects to establish a prima facie case ofwillful or unlawful 
official misconduct on the part ofCommissioner Robinson. 

Id. Because of the lack of evidence supporting the Petitioners' allegations, the Panel properly 

found that they had failed to meet their heightened burden of proof and properly dismissed the 

removal proceedings. 

Despite the utter lack of proof of their allegations, Petitioners complain that the Panel 

erred by dismissing the Removal Petition at the close of their case-in-chief. The Panel was 

presented with absolutely nothing that proved, by any standard, much less clear and convincing 

evidence, that the Respondent had engaged in official misconduct during his tenn in office. 
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1. The April 19, 2016 Grant Award to DeEMS was invalid and improper. 

The gravamen of the Petitioners' Removal Petition was that the Respondent acted 

illegally when he requested the stop-payment of the $50,000 donation award to DCEMS. The 

Petitioners boldly state that the Respondent's action in issuing the stop-payment was illegal, yet 

they side-step the main issue, which is whether the April 19, 2016, vote was valid in the first 

place. 

While the Panel's Final Opinion and Order Following Evidentiary Hearing do not 

provide any findings regarding the propriety of the grant award, it did provide the following in a 

footnote: 

The respondent argued in prior motions and hearing before this Court that 
his actions were solely because Commissioner Robinson was acting under 
the belief that the posted meeting agenda's description of "DCEMS
Discussion of Finances" was not in compliance with the notice 
requirements under the Open Governmental Proceedings Act, W.Va. Code 
§ 6-9A-l, et seq. and therefore, the approval of the funding was illegal, 
exposing the Commission to potential liability. While, this defense was 
not raised at the evidentiary hearing, the Court finds the same of no 
moment, in that the evidence adduced by the petitioners in the case in 
chief failed to set forth a prima facie case, let alone prove the charges by 
clear and convincing evidence as a matter of law and therefore, dismissal 
of the petition was proper. 

A.R. Vol. III, pp.868 at n. 4. As the Removal Petition was dismissed at the close of Petitioners' 

case-in-chief, the Respondent was not required and did not present his defenses during the 

evidentiary hearing because the Petitioners utterly failed to support their allegations. 

Nevertheless, the April 19, 2016, vote was invalid for two separate, yet related, reasons. 

Firstly, the disputed topic on the Agenda for the April 19, 2016 Meeting of the Doddridge 

County Commission violated the Open Government Proceedings Act ("OOPA"). West Virginia 

Code § 6-9A-l, et seq. Secondly, there was no proper vote because fonner-Commissioner, 
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Ralph Sandora, should have excused himself from such vote because he was also a member of 

the DCEMS Board of Directors. 

(a) Grant Award Violated the Open Government Proceedings Act. 

The purpose of the OGPA is to ensure that the citizenry is adequately informed of the

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